Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

11-21-2011

Edwards v. Mortgage Electronic Registration Appellant's Brief Dckt. 38604

Statement of Facts

- 1) On or about May 18, 2005, Appellant executed a Note and Deed of Trust (hereinafter DOT) in favor of Appellee Lehman Brothers Bank which listed Appellee MERS as nominee for Lehman Brothers Bank.
- 2) On or about December 3, 2009, Appellee Quality Loan Services mailed a "Notice of Default and Election to Sell under Deed of Trust" to Appellant (Record at 15-16). The Notice further alleged that MERS was the beneficiary and Nominee for Lehman Brothers Bank under the DOT and further purported to designate Pioneer Lender Trustee Services as Trustee and Pioneer Loan Services as Successor Trustee and Attorney in Fact.
- 3) In response, Appellant filed an action seeking Declaratory and Injunctive Relief with the First Judicial District Court, Kootenai County on April 1, 2010. (Record at 1-28).
- 4) The request for a Temporary Injunction was denied by the District Judge on April 7, 2010, however the parties submitted a stipulation for cancellation of the sale pending suit on May 6, 2010m later reduced to judgment, which remained in full force and effect until the Court's judgment on January 24, 2011.
- 5) In her Complaint, Appellant alleged that the actual owner of the note had not been established, and that MERS lacked standing to foreclose. Thereafter, Appellant was given leave to amend her Complaint. On June 10, 2010, she filed an amended Complaint adding allegation of fraud.
- 6) All defendants joined in the filing of a Motion to Dismiss filed on April 27, 2010. The motion was granted by the District Court pursuant to a Ruling on November 16, 2010, and a final judgment was entered on January 24, 2011. Three days before the Court's judgment on January

- 24, 2011, and without the required notices, Appellees sold Appellant's home at foreclosure sale on January 21, 2011 in violation of the order restraining the sale. ¹
 - 7) The Court's judgment of January 24, 2011 is the subject of this appeal.

Issues Presented On Appeal

- Whether the District Court erred in converting the Motion to Dismiss to a Motion for Summary Judgment before discovery enabled Appellant to acquire information to resist the Motion.
- 2) Whether the District Court erred in finding that Appellees had standing to foreclose.
- 3) Whether the District Court erred in concluding there were no genuine issues of disputed fact?
- 4) Whether the District Court erred in accepting hearsay testimony from opposing counsel via affidavit?
- 5) Whether Appellant is entitled to attorney fees and costs?

¹ The contest over the wrongful foreclosure arising out of the defective sale is not the subject of this appeal, as Appellant did not learn of it until well after the lower court's judgment. Appellant is currently embroiled in an unlawful detainer action, despite the pendency of this appeal.

Argument

Assignment of Error #1: Did the District Court err in converting the Motion to Dismiss to a Motion for Summary Judgment before discovery enabled Appellant to acquire information to resist the Motion?

The Complaint for Declaratory and Injunctive relief was filed on April 1, 2010 and served shortly thereafter. (Record at 1-31). A Motion to Dismiss for Failure to State a Claim was filed by all Defendants on April 27, 2010, 26 days later (although the motion lists its date of preparation as March 22, 2010, 9 days before suit was instituted by Appellant). (Record at 32).

Thereafter, Appellant was granted leave to file an Amended Complaint, which was subsequently filed on June 10, 2010 (Record at 101). All arguments in this appeal are based on the Amended Complaint, and the Court's decision relating to the allegations in that complaint.

Careful review of the Complaint reveals that Appellant alleged a lack of standing on the part of all Appellees, due to lack of proper assignment of the Deed of Trust, or lack of ownership interest in the note. (Record at 101-122). Her allegations are tied to the fact that her Deed of Trust, and/or the note which it secured were subjected to a process called securitization. While this appeal turns solely on the proper construction of Idaho law, it is not possible for an informed decision to be reached without some basic understanding of how the securitization process effectively destroys the long standing foundation of property law in

this State ². Without full discovery at the district court level, those facts could never be brought to light.

Repeatedly, Appellant asked the District Court to postpone decision on the Motion to Dismiss to permit her to obtain facts in discovery which are solely in the Appellees possession. (Record at 128 and 141) (Transcript at 23, 28, 29). Appellant submits it is manifestly unjust to permit one party to manipulate the outcome of a lawsuit in such a way as to deprive the other party of a full and fair opportunity to develop and present their case. Accepting the district court's suggestion that all plaintiffs must "have the evidence ready to prove this lawsuit. "(Transcript at 32, 11. 23-24, 36 ll. 18-22), discovery would never be appropriate. If that observation were legally sound, few if any plaintiffs could prevail absent evidence garnered from the opposing side during discovery. Rarely is it possible for any plaintiff to have all evidence from the other parties at the time of inception of suit. Instead, by filing a Motion to Dismiss immediately after service, then attaching self serving affidavits and documentation, Appellees created an untenable situation in which Appellant had no meaningful opportunity to obtain the proof she needed in which to prove her case. Given that Idaho law permits a Motion to Dismiss to be converted to a Motion for Summary Judgment, I. R. C. P. 12 (b), by filing the original motion quickly, and then adding additional documents to covert the motion, discovery can be averted. Indeed, one must wonder if the preparation date of the Motion to Dismiss, March 22, 2010, before Appellant even filed suit, suggests it is standard for banking entities to utilize advance prepared pleadings to implement this

² Professor Peterson is one of the most noted authorities on property and consumer law particularly as it relates to MERS and its progress through the courts, see "Two Faces: Demystifying the Mortgage Electronic Registration System's Land Title Theory" http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=1684729 See also http://www.law.utah.edu/faculty/faculty-profile/?id=christopher-peterson

strategy? The Court may find some guidance on this issue in the decision of Judge Magner, in *In Re: Wilson*, (Bankr.E.D.La., 2011) Case 07-11862. In awarding sanctions against LPS, she noted:

The fraud perpetrated on the Court, Debtors, and trustee would be shocking if this Court had less experience concerning the conduct of mortgage servicers. One too many times, this Court has been witness to the shoddy practices and sloppy accountings of the mortgage service industry. With each revelation, one hopes that the bottom of the barrel has been reached and that the industry will self correct. Sadly, this does not appear to be reality. This case is one example of why their conduct comes at a high cost to the system and debtors.

Id at 25-26.

Judge Magner's ruling was partially in response to her sheer exasperation by the bank's refusal to provide documents which resulted in <u>10</u> discovery disputes in which the bank repeatedly attempted to keep the court from learning the real facts.

Rule 56(f) I.R.C.P. allows the District Court discretion to refuse a motion for summary judgment or to continue its hearing if it appears that the party resisting the motion cannot provide affidavits or documents to resist the motion, to permit discovery or it "may make such other order as is just." Despite repeated pleas from Appellant, the District Court insisted on deciding the motion without full fledged discovery. Appellant submits that this order was manifestly unjust when discovery would have uncovered precisely the facts she needed not only to resist the motion, but to prevail on the merits. Instead, Appellees implemented a procedure designed to insure her failure, and regrettably, it was approved by the Court. Appellant was faced with an impossible burden. Once the Motion for Summary judgment was filed, it was her duty to respond with specific affidavits, depositions or other competent evidence, *Tingley v. Harrison*, 125 Idaho 86, 867 P.2d 960 (Idaho, 1994). Without discovery, this burden could not be met. Appellant attempted to engage in discovery during the pendency of the motion for summary judgment, but

with little success in obtaining meaningful information, and no time was allotted for a motion to compel. (Transcript at 60, ll.15-25, 61, ll.1-4). While the District Judge ruled on the motion for reconsideration that he had repeatedly postponed hearings to permit discovery, (Record at 196), the only references in the record are to the contrary, (Transcript at 60, ll.15-25, 61, ll.1-4) (Transcript at 32, Il. 23-24, 36 ll. 18-22). Appellant submits that Idaho law requires a litigant be permitted to have full, meaningful discovery before their case is wrongfully aborted during motion practice, Merrifield v. Arave, 128 Idaho 306, 912 P.2d 674 (Idaho App., 1996). How could the district court have been in a position to construe the evidence liberally in favor of Appellant, when the most telling and relevant evidence had yet to be uncovered during discovery? See, Ackerman v. Bonneville County, 140 Idaho 307, 92 P.3d 557 (Idaho App., 2004). Appellant submits that the Appellees quickly filed a Motion to Dismiss in this matter in the hopes that they would never have to disclose their improper activities, much like the banks in In Re Wilson, supra. Resistance to discovery by US Bank in a loan modification challenge was the subject of much more pointed censure in Phillips v. US Bank, Superior Court of Carroll County Georgia, Case CV 00504 (November 2, 2011) (Courtesy Copy attached). In short, there is a consistent practice on the part of lenders and substitute trustees to rush to foreclosure before their wrongful practices can be uncovered by formal discovery.

Similarly, discovery would have permitted Appellant to derive competent evidence susceptible of being introduced into evidence that MERS admits it does not designate the real beneficiary in foreclosures until after the trustee's sale, which at one time was listed on their website, but now gone. Clearly, designation of a phantom beneficiary for purposes of foreclosure is a fact which is quite relevant to disposition of this suit. Moreover, it blatantly contradicts the repeated assertions of Appellees that all parties listed in the documents filed of record were the

proper parties to foreclose under Idaho law. Yet, without sworn depositions, Appellant could not provide this information in the form of admissible evidence.

Assignment of Error # 2: Did the District Court err in concluding Appellees had standing to foreclose?

The District Court, in essence, declined to address the issue of Appellees' standing to foreclose. The reasoning applied by the District Court presents an irreconcilable conflict on this issue. The Court indicated that it lacked the authority to create state or federal law and that it was up to federal appellate courts to resolve the issue. Conversely, the Court found that two Idaho federal bankruptcy opinions *In Re Wilhelm* 407 B.R. 392 (2009) and *In Re Sheridan*, 1 I.B.C.R. 24, 2009 WL 631355, were not binding on the Court, even though they both construed Idaho property law. It is hard to imagine how the court could conclude that federal law applied, then refuse to consider two federal bankruptcy decisions originating in Idaho.

If ever there were an issue which is not the subject of conflict in the federal court system, it would be the issue of standing. In order to properly present a claim the person seeking redress must have suffered an actual injury at the hands of the opponent which can be addressed by the entry of judgment, *DaimlerChrysler Corp. et al v. Cuno, et al.* 547. U.S. 332, 126 S. Ct. 1854, 164 L. Ed. 589 (2006). Moreover, the United States Supreme Court has spoken directly to the issue before this Court in a long line of cases which dictate that a litigant has standing to assert their own rights, but lacks standing to assert the rights of another, except for narrowly defined exceptions not applicable here, See *Miller v. Albright*, 523 U.S. 420, 118 S. Ct. 1428, 140 L. Ed 575 (1998); *Singleton v. Wulff*, 428 U.S. 106, 96 S. Ct. 2968, 49 L. Ed 2d 826(1976); *Barrows v. Jackson*, 346 U.S. 249, 73 S.Ct. 1031, 97 L. Ed 1586 (1953). Nor is there a conflict between this well developed body of jurisprudence and the current law relating to standing in Idaho.

Standing is a threshold issue. Lack of standing may not be waived and may be considered by the court *sua sponte*. *Christian v. Mason*, 219 P. 3d 473 (Idaho, 2009)

In *Christian*, *supra*, the court noted: "Jurisdictional issues, such as standing, and the interpretation of statutory language that confers standing are questions of law over which this Court exercises free review. See <u>St. Luke's Reg. Med. Ctr. v. Bd. Of Comm'rs</u>, 146 Idaho 753, 755, 203 P.3d 683, 685 (2009); <u>Taylor v. Maile</u>, 146 Idaho 705, 709, 201 P.3d 1282, 1286 (2009)."

These same principles were recently reiterated in *Martin v. Camas County*, Number 33605, (Idaho 2011) which stated:

Standing is a jurisdictional issue, not an adjudicative fact of which the court may take judicial notice.

Id at 5.

Even if not binding on this Court, Appellant submits that the most persuasive case law relating to this appeal is to be found in the two decisions construing Idaho's law relating to enforcement of notes and deeds of trust, *In Re Wilhelm, supra* and *In Re Sheridan, supra*, and in a particularly well reasoned district court opinion from Minedoka County, *Ralph v. MET Life Home Loans*, Number 20100-0200 (courtesy copy attached). The *Ralph* decision relied on both *Sheridan, supra* and *Wilhelm, supra* along with a very soundly reasoned case from Oregon, *Hooker v. Northwest Trustee Services, Inc.* 2011 WL 2119103 (D. Or. May 25, 2011). At the time of preparation of this brief, Appellant believes *Ralph* is still in the district court, and appeal delays have not lapsed. She is uncertain of the status of appeal in *Hooker*.

While there is a lengthy discussion in the opinion of Judge Haines concerning who may be a beneficiary under the Act, the decision does not address the issue raised by Appellant his pleadings: did any of the named Appellees have an interest in the note, not just the mortgage, such that any of them had standing to prosecute. Appellant submits that mere invocation of the term "beneficiary" is not enough to establish the legal authority to fulfill the legal requirements of that term. As so thoughtfully expressed in *Armacost v. HSBC Bank*, 10-CV-274 ELT-LMB (District Court Idaho 2011)(Courtesy Copy attached) "One could not reasonably contend that compliance with a procedure gives substansive rights not otherwise possessed" *Id* at 21.

To date, the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Idaho, in two separate opinions, rejected the alleged authority of MERS. The first was the matter of *In Re Sheridan*, Case No. 08-20381-TLM (Opinion issued March 12, 2009). In analyzing the real party in interest requirements and the alleged "beneficiary" status of MERS in the Deed of Trust, the *Sheridan* court expressly rejected MERS' self-appointed designation as "beneficiary" in view of its declared status of "solely as nominee", and found that the securitized mortgage loan trust and its "trustee" had no interest in the Note or the Deed of Trust. The Court also found that there was no language in the Note giving MERS any rights whatsoever. The Court found that there were disputed factual issues as to who was the holder of the Note.

Later, the Idaho Bankruptcy Court went further in addressing the infirmities as to MERS in the matter of *In Re Wilhelm*, *supra*. In *Wilhelm* (as here), the Deeds of Trust named MERS as the alleged "beneficiary", but also stated that MERS was "solely as nominee" and that MERS held "only legal title". The Bankruptcy Court found that the Deeds of Trust did not state that MERS was authorized to transfer the promissory notes, but that nevertheless the movants in four of the five cases discussed in the opinion submitted assignments in which MERS purported to assign the Deed of Trust "together with" the note.

In again rejecting the alleged authority of MERS, the *Wilhelm* court noted that the moving parties "seem to presume that the assignments, standing alone, entitle them to enforce

the underlying notes". The Court found this assumption to be "unfounded", as the "nominal beneficiary" language in the Deeds of Trust did not, "either expressly or by implication", authorize MERS to transfer the promissory notes. The court premised its evaluation of standing based upon the clear provisions of Article 3 of Idaho's enactment of the Uniform Commercial Code governing negotiable instruments. See Idaho Code § 28-3-102(a); id. § 28-3-104(1). In other words, to decide the issue of standing, the Bankruptcy Court was required to evaluate Idaho law, not federal.

The Wilhelm Court cited Saxon Mortgage Services v. Hillery, 2008 WL 5170180 (N.D. Cal. Dec. 9, 2008) and Bellistri v. Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLC, 2009 WL 531057 (Mo. Ct. App. March 3, 2009) in support of its position. These cases, as well as the Wilhelm decision, as will be seen later, reflect the numerous courts throughout the United States which, like Sheridan and Wilhelm, have resoundingly rejected MERS' purported authority to do anything.

Appellant still maintains the findings by the Court in *Sheridan* and *Wilhelm* represent the current state of the law in Idaho as to the lack of authority on the part of MERS to effect foreclosures. Significantly, the conclusions reached in those cases have been repeated in multiple jurisdictions around the United States.

Perhaps to fully understand the issues before this Court, it would be helpful to understand what MERS is, and how their business operates. These facts were not fully before the District Court because discovery never transpired, and it is not possible for this Court to consider if the grant of summary judgment was proper without understanding what facts will be uncovered in that process. While the Deed of Trust lists MERS as the "beneficiary" on the security instrument, and as "nominee" for the lender, those are essentially empty words inserted to suggest a patina of authority to act in the foreclosure process. Nothing in the record before this

Court shows that MERS owned the note, had any interest in the Deed of Trust other than its own, superficial, self serving declarations that is holds those interests. Instead, there is ample case law reflecting that MERS is due no monies from Appellant for payments on the note, is not entitled to receive any monies from that source and never held any actual authority to execute upon the Deed of Trust. By comparison, the Court should consider MERS own forceful denials of its functions arising out of the following line of cases.

MERS operational structure was clearly described by the Supreme Courts of Kansas and Nebraska and the Court of Appeals of New York (New York's highest court):

"MERS is a private corporation that administers the MERS System, a national electronic registry that tracks the transfer of ownership interests and servicing rights in mortgage loans. Through the MERS system, MERS becomes the Mortgagee of record for participating members through assignment of the Member's interests to MERS. MERS is listed as the grantee in the official records maintained at country register of deeds offices. *The lenders retain the promissory notes, as well as the servicing rights to the mortgages.* The lenders can then sell these interests to investors without having to record the transaction in the public record. MERS is compensated for its services through fees charged to participating members."

Landmark Nat. Bank v. Kessler, 216 P.3d `58, 164 (Kan. 2009)(emphasis supplied), citing Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc. v. Nebraska Dept. of Banking & Finance, 704 N.W.2d 784, 785 (Neb. 2005) (in which MERS forcefully disclaimed a beneficiary's rights in order to avoid payment of fees by registering as a business entity.)

"In 1993, members of the real estate mortgage industry created MERS, an electronic registration system for mortgages. Its purpose is to streamline the mortgage process by eliminating the need to prepare and record paper assignments of mortgage, as had been done for hundreds of years. To accomplish this goal, MERS acts as nominee and as mortgagee of record for its members nationwide and appoints itself nominee, as mortgagee, for its members' successors and assigns, thereby remaining nominal mortgagee of record no matter how many times loan servicing, or the mortgage itself, may be transferred. MERS hopes to register every residential and commercial home loan nationwide on its electronic system."

Merscorp, inc. v. Romaine, 861 N.E.2d 81, 86 (N.Y. 2006).

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