# Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

6-14-2012

# Edwards v. Mortgage Electronic Registration Respondent's Brief 1 Dckt. 38604

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### I. Standard of Review

On appeal, the Court reviews an order granting summary judgment de novo, applying the same standard applied by the trial court when ruling on the motion. Sun Valley Potatoes v. Rosholt, 133 Idaho 1, 3 (1999). Summary judgment may be granted "if the pleadings, depositions, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." I.R.C.P. 56(c). The evidence is viewed in a light most favorable to the nonmoving party. Thomson v. Idaho Ins. Agency, Inc., 126 Idaho 527, 529 (1994). But a party opposing a motion

for summary judgment may not rest on the allegations of the pleadings; they must set forth facts showing there is a genuine and material issue that remains to be tried. I.R.C.P. 56(e).

The trial court's evidentiary rulings are reviewed for abuse of discretion. Sprinkler Irrigation Co. v. John Deere Ins. Co., 139 Idaho 691, 696 (2004). To determine whether the court abused its discretion, this Court considers: "(1) whether it correctly perceived the issue as discretionary; (2) whether it acted without the boundaries of its discretion and consistently with applicable legal standards; and (3) whether it reached its decision by an exercise of reason." Id.

# II. The Court Did Not Err in Hearing the Motion for Summary Judgment Before Discovery Was Completed.

Summary Judgment was not entered until Plaintiff exhausted her dilatory delay tactics. It was Plaintiff that requested conversion of the Motion to Dismiss to a Summary Judgment Motion, and it was Plaintiff that introduced evidence outside the pleadings. (R. pp. 128, 141; T. pp. 22, 24.) Yet, Plaintiff contends that the trial court erred in granting summary judgment for Defendants before Plaintiff completed "full fledged discovery." She does not appear to contest the court's ability to convert the Motion to Dismiss to a Motion for Summary Judgment, but instead contends the Motion was premature because discovery had not been completed. This argument fails because there is no requirement that discovery be completed before a summary judgment motion can be heard. Further, the record confirms that Plaintiff is the party who requested that the motion be converted to a summary judgment motion and had ample opportunity to conduct discovery, and she does not point to any specific information that she could have obtained if given additional time. Thus, Plaintiff has not shown any possible abuse of discretion by the trial court in denying her requests to postpone the summary judgment motion.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This Court has held that were materials outside the pleadings are submitted in support of a motion to dismiss, the trial court had a duty to treat the motion as a motion for summary judgment. *Boesiger v. De Modena*, 88 Idaho 337, 343 (1965).

#### A. Summary Judgment May Be Granted Before Discovery Is Complete.

Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 56(f) gives the court discretion to continue the hearing on a summary judgment motion "to permit affidavits to be obtained or depositions to be taken or discovery to be had or may make such other order as is just." The court's ruling on a motion for continuance is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Taylor v. AIA Servs. Corp.*, 261 P.3d 829, 849 (Idaho 2011).

Rule 56(f) does not necessitate "full fledged discovery" prior to Summary Judgment, as claimed by Plaintiff. *Bennett v. Bliss*, 103 Idaho 358, 360 (Ct. App. 1982); (*see* Opening Br. 11). Instead, it allows a continuance only where the party opposing summary judgment gives specific reasons why the party is unable to oppose the motion without additional discovery. *Golay v. Loomis*, 118 Idaho 387, 389 (1990). The party seeking a continuance has the dual burden of showing what further discovery is needed to support their opposition and how the information sought would preclude summary judgment. *Nicholas v. Wallenstein*, 266 F.3d 1083, 1088-89 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2001) (discussing former Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 56(f)). Plaintiff failed to make such showing.

Plaintiff twice moved for continuance because of lack of discovery. The first time Defendants gave her the benefit of doubt and stipulated to continuance, but Plaintiff made no use of the opportunity. Plaintiff's Second Motion to Continue Hearing simply declared that she was "entitled to complete discovery prior to having to respond to a Motion for Summary Judgment." (R. p. 142.) She identified no needed discovery, and provided no affidavit in compliance with Rule 56(f). At the August 20, 2010 hearing, the trial court asked Plaintiff's counsel to explain what discovery she felt was necessary to respond to the Motion for Summary Judgment. (Tr. p. 30, L. 8-10.) She again stated only that she wanted discovery regarding "whether or not the assignment was properly recorded, [and] whether or not they actually are holders of the original Deed of Trust." (Tr. p. 30, L. 11-16.) No specifics were provided as to what actual facts she sought to uncover, or how those facts could have impacted the ruling on Defendants' Motion.

This presents sufficient grounds to deny a continuance. See Golay, 118 Idaho at 389, 391; Jenkins v. Boise Cascade Corp., 141 Idaho 233, 108 P.3d 380, 386 (2005)

Further, Plaintiff's only explanation for why this discovery had not been conducted sooner is that her attorney made a conscious decision not to conduct discovery, ostensibly to keep fees low until Defendants' Motion to Dismiss could be heard. (Tr. p. 28, L. 4-11.) Plaintiff's counsel fully recognized that she could have conducted discovery earlier – as Defendants did – but simply chose not to do so. (Tr. p. 26, L. 18-20, and p. 27, L. 22-23.) Having specifically elected *not* to pursue discovery, Plaintiff cannot be heard to challenge the court's ruling on the ground that she needs the very discovery she elected not to pursue. Plaintiff's failure to pursue discovery earlier in the case did not justify her request for further continuances of the summary judgment hearing. *See Mackey v. Pioneer Nat'l Bank*, 867 F.2d 520, 524 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1989) ("A movant cannot complain if it fails diligently to pursue discovery before summary judgment."); *Merrifield v. Arave*, 128 Idaho 306, 311 (Ct. App. 1996) ("One of the objectives of the summary judgment rules has been to insure that a *diligent* party is given a reasonable opportunity to prepare his case.") (emphasis added).

#### B. The Refusal To Grant A Third Extension Is Not An Abuse Of Discretion.

Plaintiff's argument centers on the erroneous supposition that the trial court refused to grant her request for a continuance so that she could conduct discovery. (Opening Br. 11-12.) Plaintiff fails to acknowledge that she was actually granted *two* continuances of the summary judgment hearing, but let the time pass. The Motion was originally set to be heard on July 29, 2010. The hearing was continued to August 20, 2010 by stipulation, at Plaintiff's request. (*See* R. p. 150.) At the August 20 hearing, the court granted Plaintiff's second request for a continuance and reset the hearing for September 30, 2010. (R. p. 150-151.) Although Plaintiff requested a continuance of sixty days from August 20, the court found thirty-five days would be sufficient time for her to file the affidavit of her expert witness. (Tr. p. 24, L. 4-5, and p. 32 L. 9-13.)

The scheduling of court proceedings rests in the sound discretion of the trial court. Gunter v. Murphy's Lounge, LLC, 141 Idaho 16, 24 (2005). Plaintiff has not identified any abuse in granting a continuance of thirty-five days rather than sixty. The record shows that the court recognized the matter as discretionary, ruled within the bounds of its discretion, and based its decision on an exercise of reason. (See Tr. p. 31, L. 22 through p. 33, L. 15); Gunter, 141 Idaho at 24 (discussing standards for abuse of discretion). The only specific evidence that Plaintiff identified as necessary to oppose Defendants' summary judgment motion was the forensic audit report from her expert witness. The trial court gave Plaintiff all the time that she needed to submit it, and it was finally submitted and considered by the court. (Tr. p. 33, L. 10-15.) Additionally, Plaintiff claimed to need sixty days because her "guess" was that Defendants would not adequately respond to discovery requests, making a motion to compel necessary. (Tr. p. 28, L. 15-19.) But at that time, Plaintiff had not even made any discovery requests to which Defendants could respond. (See Tr. p. 28, L.1-2 (describing her "next step" to be a large set of discovery requests).) The speculation that Plaintiff may need time to bring a motion to compel on discovery requests not even served yet did not warrant a further continuance of the hearing. See Nelson v. Steer, 118 Idaho 409, 797 P.2d 117 (1990) (opposition must be anchored in something more than speculation).

Finally, Plaintiff has not shown any prejudice from the court's refusal to continue the hearing for the requested sixty days. As a result, any error that may have been committed by the trial court is harmless. *See Taylor*, 261 P.3d at 850. The Court "must disregard any error or defect in the proceeding which does not affect the substantial rights of the parties." I.R.C.P. 61. Without pointing to any specific information that could have been discovered if given another twenty-five day continuance, Plaintiff cannot demonstrate any prejudicial error that would undermine the court's ruling. *Taylor*, 261 P.3d at 850.

## III. Summary Judgment Was Proper Because There Was No Genuine Dispute As To Any Material Fact.

The Amended Complaint presented two causes of action: (1) Injunctive Relief, and (2) Declaratory Relief. (See R. pp. 108, 110.) The majority of Plaintiff's arguments focus on whether MERS could act as beneficiary of Plaintiff's Deed of Trust under Idaho law. Defendants herein adopt and incorporate the arguments presented in MERS's Brief on these points, and will not repeat them here. In addition to the reasons discussed in MERS Brief, Plaintiff also failed to state a cause of action against either Pioneer or Quality Loan Service because there is no basis for filing a civil action to challenge the "standing" of parties to a nonjudicial foreclosure, and because the evidence demonstrated compliance with the requirements of Idaho's nonjudicial foreclosure statutes.

#### A. The Trustee Of Record Has The Power To Foreclose Nonjudicially.

An action for declaratory relief cannot be based on a hypothetical or abstract injury; instead it requires "some specific adversary question or contention based on existing state of facts." Wood v. Class A. Sch. Dist., 78 Idaho 75, 79 (1956) (quoting State ex rel. Miller v. State Bd. of Education, 56 Idaho 210, 217 (1935)). Plaintiff's action, however, completely failed to present a meritorious legal or factual dispute regarding an actual injury.

#### 1. There Is No Standing Requirement in the Idaho Trust Deed Act.

Plaintiff failed to demonstrate the existence of an actual controversy regarding the trustee's or beneficiary's standing to pursue nonjudicial foreclosure. The judicial concept of "standing "has no applicability to nonjudicial proceedings. Yet Plaintiff contends that an issue of fact remains to be tried because the Defendants did not produce documents proving their standing to foreclose, namely the original promissory note and deed of trust. (Opening Br. 13, 26, 29.) This argument is misplaced because there is no requirement under the comprehensive statutory framework for either the trustee or the beneficiary to prove their standing before advancing nonjudicial foreclosure. This argument is virtually identical to the argument raised

and decided in *Vt. Trotter v. Bank of N.Y. Mellon*, 275 P.3d 857 (Idaho 2012), which should therefore be dispositive on this issue.

Standing is a concept that applies to judicial proceedings; a party seeking affirmative relief from a court must first prove its standing to seek that relief. *Young v. City of Ketchum*, 137 Idaho 102, 104 (2002). But foreclosure under Idaho's Trust Deed Act is a *nonjudicial* proceeding. *Roos v. Belcher*, 79 Idaho 473, 477-78 (1958). By executing a deed of trust, Plaintiff expressly authorized the property to be sold *without* judicial proceedings in the event of a default. *Id.* at 477. "The procedures to foreclose on trust deeds outside of the judicial process provide the express-lane alternative to foreclosure in the judicial system and strip borrowers of protections embedded in a judicial foreclosure." *Fed. Home Loan Mortg. Corp. v. Appel*, 143 Idaho 42, 46 n.1 (2006). The applicable statutes make no mention of "standing" or any requirement that the trustee prove standing before advancing the nonjudicial sale.

In support of her argument that proof of standing is required, Plaintiff cites to no specific section of the Idaho Trust Deed Act or binding case law, and instead cites two decisions from the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the District of Idaho, *In re Wilhelm* and *In re Sheridan*. (Opening Br. 13-16.) Both *Wilhelm* and *Sheridan* involved *judicial* proceedings in which the moving party sought affirmative relief from the automatic bankruptcy stay. *See In re Wilhelm*, 407 B.R. 392, 397 (Bankr. D. Idaho 2009); *In re Sheridan*, 2009 Bankr. LEXIS 552, at \*3-4 (Bankr. D. Idaho Mar. 12, 2009). In both cases the bankruptcy court merely held that a creditor filing a motion for relief from the stay under 11 U.S.C. § 362 must provide some evidence that it is entitled to seek that relief, since it has to be requested by a "party in interest" under § 362(a). *Wilhelm*, 407 B.R. at 401; *Sheridan*, 2009 Bankr. LEXIS 552 at \*11. While Plaintiff urges the Court to give broad application to these opinions, *Wilhelm* and *Sheridan* held only that a moving party in a bankruptcy proceeding must establish its standing to seek affirmative relief in that venue. Neither opinion discussed the requirements necessary to commence a nonjudicial foreclosure under Idaho's statutory framework. Those requirements are set forth in I.C. § 45-1505, which

lists four requirements for a trustee to foreclose by advertisement and sale. None of those requirements expressly provide for a "standing" or "real party in interest" inquest. This Court specifically rejected the applicability of these bankruptcy court opinions in *Trotter*, and should likewise reject them here.

Nevertheless, Plaintiff asks this Court to require proof of standing in order to test the accuracy of the county title records. (Opening Br. 33.) But Plaintiff's stated desire to ensure that county records are accurate does not provide a basis for the declaratory relief sought in the Amended Complaint. There never was any genuine question as to the accuracy of the county records. Further, as addressed below, the undisputed evidence demonstrated that the Trustee complied fully with the statutory foreclosure requirements. Accordingly, the trial court properly granted summary judgment for Defendants without requiring proof of standing to foreclose.

# 2. Neither The Court Nor The Trustee Are Required To Look Past The Public Record In Determining Compliance With I.C. § 45-1505(1).

I.C. § 45-1505(1) provides as follows:

The trustee may foreclose a trust deed by advertisement and sale under this act if:

(1) The trust deed, any assignments of the trust deed by the trustee or the beneficiary and any appointment of a successor trustee are recorded in mortgage records in the counties in which the property described in the deed is situated . . . .

Defendants produced evidence to establish that these statutory requirements to advance a nonjudicial foreclosure were met. The evidence showed that the Deed of Trust and Appointment of Successor Trustee were recorded in the Kootenai County Records. (R. pp. 78, 115.) The public record also showed that MERS was named as the beneficiary in the Deed of Trust, there were no other recorded assignments of the Deed of Trust, and that appointment of Pioneer as successor trustee was recorded. The trial court properly reviewed this evidence and found that Defendants had complied with the statutory foreclosure requirements. (R. pp. 159-162, 164-

165.) Neither the Trustee nor the court needed to look beyond those public records to determine compliance with the statute. The remaining requirements of I.C. 45-1505 were also met, namely that Plaintiff was in default, (R. p. 154), and that a Notice of Default was recorded on December 3, 2009 containing all of the information required by I.C. § 45-1505, (R. pp. 117-118).

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